RECEIVED

11-14-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP1430-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EMERSON D. LAMB,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CASE 2016CF24, THE HONORABLE JUDGE MARK J. MCGINNIS PRESIDING, AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW SENTENCING HEARING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ERICA L. BAUER State Bar No. 1049684

103 W. College Ave, Ste. 410 Appleton, WI 54911 Phone (920) 364-0326 E-mail: erica@bauerfarrislaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue presented: Should Lamb be granted a new sentencing hearing because there is evidence of objective bias by the sentencing court?

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be of marginal value in this case because the issues on appeal can be fully developed in writing with citations to the record and citation to relevant legal authorities.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The law relating to a defendant's right to be sentenced by an impartial judge is well-established. However, there are few published decisions that address the type of structural error alleged in this case, where objective bias is alleged wherein the trial court makes statements evidencing prejudgment of a defendant's sentence. Therefore, the defendant believes that publication of this decision would further clarify and develop existing case law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Emerson D. Lamb ("Lamb") was charged with two counts of felony bail jumping, battery by prisoners and disorderly conduct. *R. 2; R. 4.* Lamb entered a no contest plea to count three, battery by prisoner and was convicted of

the same, as a repeater, contrary to secs. 940.20(1) and 939.62(1)(b), Wis. Stats. *R. 12; R. 45; R. 22.*

In preparation for sentencing, the trial court ordered a presentence investigation report be completed. *R. 13.* Lamb appeared for sentencing on September 6, 2016 and the trial court addressed Lamb regarding his alleged failure to comply with the presentence investigation. *R. 46.* According to the Department of Corrections, Lamb had communicated with their office via telephone but was reportedly homeless and therefore could not receive mail. *R. 14.* Therefore, the Department of Corrections reportedly made arrangements for Lamb to retrieve his paperwork. However, Lamb reported to the wrong probation office and was directed to go to the other location. According to the Department of Corrections, Lamb never reported to the second address and did not report for his interview.

In court on September 6, 2016, before inquiring about whether Lamb had any explanation for not reporting for his presentence investigation interview, the trial court announced its intention to place Lamb in custody for non-compliance. R. 46-1 to 46-3. Lamb, by and through counsel, advised the trial court of his desire to withdraw his no contest plea and therefore, newly appointed trial counsel requested time to review the file and consider the appropriateness of such a motion. R. 46-4. Before sentencing was rescheduled and bond addressed relating to Lamb's non-compliance, Lamb left the courtroom. R. 46-6 to 46-7.

Lamb was subsequently arrested and reappeared for sentencing on October 18, 2016. *R. 19; R. 47.* Lamb apologized for leaving the courtroom September 6, 2016 before the proceedings were concluded. *R. 47-3.* Next, the trial court inquired why Lamb was wearing clothing indicative of being placed in segregation in the jail. Lamb responded by advising the trial court that he voluntarily requested to be placed in segregation because he didn't want to be around other inmates and risk any confrontation with other inmates. Lamb continued to explain that he is diagnosed with Asperger's Syndrome and therefore, he feels judged by others and feels it leads to confrontation because he is often picked on. *R.* 47-4. The trial court responded by telling Lamb he anticipated Lamb to make an "uneducated, kind of dumb response." *R.* 47-4. Lamb again apologized.

Judge McGinnis then addressed a second letter that was received by the Department of Corrections, explaining why a presentence investigation was still not completed. *R*. 47-5; see R. 23. Lamb's attorney interjected to apologize and explain that the delayed completion of the presentence report was due to counsel's need to examine the issue of plea withdrawal and was not attributable to Lamb's conduct or fault.

Lamb advised the trial court of his desire to waive the completion of a presentence report and proceed to sentencing. *R.* 47-6. The State agreed to proceed without a presentence report and conveyed that the State was prepared to proceed with sentencing and would be recommending that Lamb be placed on probation. The parties agreed before proceeding that Lamb was entitled to 113 days of sentence credit and that no restitution was requested by the victim.¹ *R.* 47-6 to 47-7.

¹ Lamb also filed a post-conviction motion, challenging the 113 days credit given to him originally. That motion was not contested and the trial court granted that motion, issuing an amended judgment of conviction which provided for the appropriate 115 days credit to which Lamb was entitled. Therefore, this appeal does not further address that issue.

The trial court then addressed Lamb, directly, in relation to his decision to abandon a presentence report and his decision to abandon a motion to withdraw his plea:

THE COURT: And are you in agreement with that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: Okay. First off, you have a, not necessarily a right, but I had ordered a presentence investigation be done before sentencing, and it's my understanding that you don't want to have that done; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: If that's what my attorney thinks is best, then yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, that's what he told me he thought was best, but I'm asking you because what I want to do is when I have people like you, I want to avoid future issues on appeal, so let me finish so that there's no game playing. When I read a letter that says though he wants to withdraw his plea and vacate his plea and all this, I want to make sure that you and I are on the same page, okay?

THE DEFENDAT: Yeah.

THE COURT: That's my purpose in asking these questions.

THE DEFENDANT" Yeah. I don't want a PSI done.

THE COURT: Okay. And you've had enough time to think about it and you've gone through it with Mr. Rashid?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: You've discussed the advantages and disadvantages?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: You've had your questions answered?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You're making that decision today free from any threats or promises?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. So I'm going to accept the waiver of the PSI on both sides. There was also in this letter, there was mention that you potentially wanted to withdraw or vacate your pleas, so are you familiar with that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: Okay. And that's something that you wanted to do once upon a time.

THE DEFENDANT: It was, but not -- after further discussion with my attorney, I don't want that anymore.

THE COURT: Okay. Why is that?

THE DEFENDANT: Because I feel like I could potentially benefit from, you know, maybe being on probation. Also, there's the possibility of leaving today, so I just --

THE COURT: not really. Okay. Just though I'd tell you that so you don't have any false hopes. I mean, there's a possibility, but it's probably not going to happen. Do you understand that? Yes?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. And I know you're shaking your head, but you need to answer out loud, okay? So I don't want you waiving your rights thinking something that might happen that maybe isn't going to happen. So now that you know that it probably isn't going to happen that you're going to get out today, do you still want to proceed with sentencing and not argue on your request to vacate the pleas or to withdraw the pleas and to waive your right to have a PSI?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

R. 47-7 to 47-11. After the trial court was done addressing Lamb and telling him he was probably not going to be released, the court proceeded with the sentencing hearing.

The State recommended probation, as they indicated they would do before the hearing began. *R.* 47-11 to 47-17.

Lamb's attorney also made a recommendation for probation. *R.* 47-17 to 47-19.

Lamb made a brief statement, again apologizing and acknowledging that he has rehabilitative needs he needs to change to be productive and handle situations better. *R.* 47-19 to 47-20.

Before pronouncing sentence, the trial court made further inquiries into Lamb's background. *R.* 47-20 to 27. During that colloquy, Lamb reported having attended college for a period of time at Fox Valley Technical College. *R.* 47-21. In addition, the trial court addressed Lamb's mental health:

THE DEFENDANT: I have two older brothers and one younger brother.

THE COURT: Do you keep in contact with them?

THE DEFENDANT: They don't like me too much.

THE COURT: Why is that?

THE DEFENDANT: 'Cause I'm different, just -- that's pretty much -- that's why nobody likes me really 'cause I have a hard time socializing and stuff.

R. 47-21. The trial court also inquired about Lamb's employment history:

THE COURT: When's the last time you were employed?

THE DEFENDANT: 2011-ish.

(paragraphs omitted)

THE COURT: Why haven't you worked in the last five years?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I mean, I get supplemental security income, so.

THE COURT: That's not what I asked.

R. 47-21 to 47-22. Although Lamb provided information to the court that he was deemed to at least have a partial disability for purposes of income assistance, the trial court continued to inquire why Lamb didn't have any employment history. In response, Lamb explained his difficulty working and spending large quantities of time with coworkers due to his socialization difficulties from his mental health diagnosis. *R.* 47-23. Lamb advised the trial court that he has struggled with depression as a result of his difficulties socializing. In response, the trial court advised Lamb that he would expect his depression to come from his failures in terms of his life. *R.* 47-24.

The trial court sentenced Lamb to serve a four-year prison sentence with two years initial confinement and two years extended supervision. *R.* 47-28 to 47-36; *R.* 22.

Lamb filed a post-conviction motion, seeking a new sentencing hearing before a new judge, on the grounds that the record in this case demonstrates evidence of objective bias because Judge McGinnis prejudged Lamb. *R.* 28. Specifically, the motion alleges that Judge McGinnis had already decided that Lamb would be confined further before the sentencing hearing even began.

A hearing was held June 26, 2017. Judge McGinnis denied Lamb's post-conviction motion for a new sentencing

hearing. *R.* 48-15 to 48-19; *R.* 34. Lamb now appeals from the judgment sentencing him to prison and denying his motion for a new sentencing hearing. *R.* 35.

ARGUMENT

Lamb is entitled to a new sentencing hearing because the sentencing judge prejudged Lamb's sentence by determining that Lamb would be confined in violation of Lamb's due process rights guaranteed to him by the United State and Wisconsin Constitutions which constitutes objective bias. *See* <u>Franklin v. McCaughtry</u>, 398 F.3d 955, 961 (7th Cir., 2005).

The Court of Appeals of Wisconsin has decided two cases wherein a magistrate prejudged an outcome before the parties could be heard.

In <u>State v. Gudgeon</u>, the Court of Appeals held that the circuit court was objectively biased because the record reflected that the judge communicated that he "wanted" to extend a defendant's probation, rather than convert outstanding restitution to a civil judgment and did so prior to any hearing on the matter. <u>State v. Gudgeon</u>, 2006 WI App 143, ¶ 26, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114. The Court of Appeals held that when a circuit court "predetermines how it will rule, the error is structural and poisons the entire proceeding." <u>Id</u>. at ¶31.

In <u>State v. Goodson</u>, the Court of Appeals held that the record reflected that Judge McGinnis was objectively biased when he told a defendant he would be sentenced to the maximum if he was ever revoked and later sentenced the defendant to the maximum sentence, reflecting back on his earlier warning. <u>State v. Goodson</u>, 2009 WI App 107, ¶ 10,

320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385.. The Court of Appeals admonished that a circuit court can tell a defendant what *could* happen but cannot tell a defendant what *will* happen. Id. at ¶17.

The Court in <u>Goodson</u> summarized that objective bias can be shown to rebut the presumption that a judge has acted fairly and impartially, in two situations. First, objective bias can be shown "when a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements." <u>Id.</u> at ¶9; citing <u>State v. Rochelt</u>, 165 Wis. 2d 373, 378, 477 N.W.2d 659 (Wis. App., 1991). Alternatively, a second form of objective bias can be shown then "'there are objective facts demonstrating ... the trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly."" <u>Id.</u> at ¶9; *citing* <u>State v. McBride</u>, 187 Wis. 2d 409, 416, 523 N.W.2d 106 (Wis. App., 1994).

Similar to the facts in <u>Goodson</u>, Lamb's sentence was prejudged. <u>Goodson</u>, 2009 WI App 107 at ¶ 13. Before Lamb's sentencing hearing even began and before any argument was heard by any party, Judge McGinnis told Lamb he was not going anywhere and was not being released:

THE DEFENDANT: Because I feel like I could potentially benefit from, you know, maybe being on probation. Also, there's the possibility of leaving today, so I just --

THE COURT: not really. Okay. Just though I'd tell you that so you don't have any false hopes. I mean, there's a possibility, but it's probably not going to happen.

R. 47-9 to 47-10. Again moments later, Judge McGinnis told Lamb that he

THE COURT: Okay. And I know you're shaking your head, but you need to answer out loud, okay? So I don't want you waiving your rights thinking something that might happen that maybe isn't going to happen. So now that you know that it probably isn't going to happen that you're going to get out today, do you still want to proceed with sentencing and not argue on your request to vacate the pleas or to withdraw the pleas and to waive your right to have a PSI?

R. 47-10. Judge McGinnis told Lamb "you're not going to get out today." <u>Id.</u>

The State was recommending probation in this case, with the possibility for further conditional jail. Lamb had been confined for 115 days as of his sentencing hearing. There is no mandatory minimum sentence and therefore, the trial court had authority to release Lamb immediately to probation, without further jail, or to further confine him.

Judge McGinnis told Lamb he didn't want Lamb to get his hopes up because he probably wasn't going anywhere and he didn't want Lamb making any decisions about proceeding with the "false hope" of being released. *R. 47-9 to 47-10.*

The repeated comments by the judge, telling Lamb that he wasn't going to be released constitute prejudgment of Lamb's sentence. Judge McGinnis predetermined whether to confine Lamb as opposed to releasing him on probation. Therefore Lamb is entitled to a new sentencing before a new judge.

CONCLUSION

Lamb was denied his constitutional right to be sentenced by an impartial magistrate and the record in this case provides evidence that the trial court was objectively biased. As such, Lamb is entitled to a new sentencing before a new judge.