**RECEIVED**

**12-12-2017**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT III

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

Case No. 2017AP1430-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EMERSON D. LAMB,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE  
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, AND FROM AN  
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW  
SENTENCING HEARING, THE HONORABLE  
MARK J. MCGINNIS, PRESIDING

---

**BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

---

BRAD D. SCHIMEL  
Wisconsin Attorney General

ABIGAIL C. S. POTTS  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1060762

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice

## **INTRODUCTION**

This case challenges the circuit court's decision denying a new sentencing hearing. Emerson Lamb alleges that his sentencing judge was biased. But the record does not reveal even an appearance of bias, let alone one that exposes a great risk of actual bias.

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. Does the record show an appearance of bias that reveals a great risk of actual bias?

The circuit court answered: No.

This Court should answer: No.

## **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Oral argument and publication are unnecessary because the issue presented is fully briefed and may be resolved by applying well-established legal principles to undisputed facts.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A. On July 6, 2016, pursuant to a plea agreement, Emerson Lamb entered a no contest plea to one count of battery by a prisoner as a repeat offender, which was punishable by up to ten years in prison. (R. 45:6.) Several other charges were dismissed and read-in. (R. 25:2.) After a thorough colloquy, the Court entered a judgment of conviction, ordered a presentence investigation, and released Lamb on postconviction bond. (R. 45:11–12.)

Lamb failed to cooperate with the Department of Corrections' efforts to complete a presentence investigation. (R. 46:2.) At a hearing scheduled in response to this failure, the Court told Lamb it was likely he would be held in

custody until a presentence investigation is completed. (R. 46:3) After hearing he would be placed in custody, Lamb's attorney told the Court that Lamb wished to withdraw his plea. (R. 46:4.) Lamb's attorney asked that the motion be heard after he had time to research the merits of the motion. (R. 46:5.)

As the Court and parties discussed scheduling the sentencing hearing, Lamb interrupted to express his belief that he was falsely charged in some of the read-in charges. (R. 46:6.) Lamb then stood up and left the courtroom. As Lamb was leaving the courtroom, the judge told him to sit down and that he was not helping himself by disregarding the Court's instruction to sit down. (R. 46:6.) After deputies informed the Court that they were unable to locate Lamb before he fled the building, the Court issued a warrant for Lamb's arrest and scheduled the sentencing hearing. (R. 46:7.)

On October 18, 2016, the Court held a hearing on Lamb's motion to withdraw his plea and sentenced Lamb. (R. 47.) The Court began the hearing by asking Lamb why he ran and why he was housed in segregation. (R. 47:3.) The Court then inquired into the status of the case. Lamb's attorney told the Court that they wished to abandon the motion to withdraw the plea and proceed to sentencing without a presentence investigation. (R. 47:5–8.) The Court conducted a colloquy with Lamb on both the decision to forego a presentence investigation and the decision to abandon the motion to withdraw his plea. (R. 47:7–11.)

During that colloquy, Lamb stated he no longer wanted to withdraw his plea because he felt like he "could potentially benefit from, you know, maybe being on probation. Also, there's the possibility of leaving today, so I just. . . ." (R. 47:9–10.) The Court responded, "Not really. Okay. Just thought I'd tell you that so you don't have any false hopes. I mean, there's a possibility, but it's probably

not going to happen. Do you understand that? Yes?” (R. 47:10.) Lamb acknowledged leaving jail that day was not likely and the Court continued:

“So I don’t want you waiving your rights thinking something that might happen that maybe isn’t going to happen. So now that you know that it probably isn’t going to happen that you’re going to get out today, do you want to proceed with sentencing and not argue on your request to vacate the pleas or withdraw the pleas and to waive your right to a PSI?”

(R. 47:10.) Lamb agreed to proceed to sentencing. After confirming with defense counsel that Lamb made the decision freely, intelligently, and voluntarily, the Court asked Lamb, “Is there any reason that you shouldn’t be sentenced today?” (R. 47:11.) Lamb stated, “No, there isn’t.” (R. 47:11.)

Following that colloquy, the Court instructed the parties to make their recommendations. After Lamb finished his allocution, the Court engaged in a long conversation with Lamb searching for mitigating factors. (R. 47:19–33.) After the conversation with Lamb, the Court went through the statutory sentencing factors and discussed the arguments made by counsel and statements made by Lamb during the hearing. (R. 47:34–36.) Then the court sentenced Lamb to two years of initial confinement and two years extended supervision, for a total of four years, which was six years less than the maximum sentence. (R. 25; 47:34–36.)

On April 20, 2017, Lamb filed a motion for postconviction relief requesting a new sentencing hearing in front of a different judge. (R. 28.) Lamb argued that the sentencing judge exhibited bias and that Lamb’s sentence was predetermined. (R. 28.) The State objected to resentencing. (R. 32.) On June 26, 2017, the circuit court held a hearing on Lamb’s resentencing motion, and made an oral ruling denying the motion. (R. 48.) This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a judge was objectively not impartial is a question of law that this court reviews independently. *State v. Herrmann*, 2015 WI 84, ¶ 23, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772.

## ARGUMENT

**The record does not reveal an appearance of bias, let alone an appearance sufficient to establish a great risk of actual bias.**

A. There is a presumption that a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without prejudice. *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, ¶8, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385.; *State v. McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d 409, 414, 523 N.W.2d 106 (Ct. App. 1994). The presumption is rebuttable, placing the burden on the party asserting the bias to show that bias by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Gudgeon*, 2006 WI App 143, ¶ 20, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114; *McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d at 415.

“In determining whether a defendant’s due process right to trial by an impartial and unbiased judge has been violated, Wisconsin courts have taken both subjective and objective approaches.” *Herrmann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 26. It is the application of the objective test that is at issue in this case.

The objective test looks at whether a reasonable person could conclude that the trial judge failed to give the defendant a fair trial. *Herrmann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 27. And while courts have since recognized that the right to an impartial decisionmaker stretches beyond the absence of actual bias to encompass the appearance of bias as well, the United States Supreme Court has made clear that it is “an extraordinary situation where the Constitution requires recusal.” *Id.* at ¶ 37 (quoting *Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal*

Co., 556 U.S. 868, 887 (2009)). And although actual bias need not be shown, the defendant has the burden of proving “an appearance of bias” that “reveals a great risk of actual bias.” *Id.* at ¶ 46.

B. The transcript of the hearing shows that the circuit court judge attempted to ensure that Lamb had accurate information before abandoning his motion to withdraw his plea. While the record reveals that the judge told Lamb he was unlikely to be released that day, it does not reveal any predetermined desire or outcome.

During questioning on Lamb’s request to abandon his motion to withdraw his plea, the circuit court in this case warned Lamb that it was not guaranteed that Lamb would be released that day. (R. 47:9–10.) The transcript of the hearing shows that the judge did not want Lamb pleading guilty with a misunderstanding about his situation or “false hopes” about the effect of his plea. (R. 47:9–10.) To that end, the court explained that it was a possibility that he would leave on probation, but it probably was not going to happen. (R. 47:9–10.) And the court repeatedly asked Lamb if he still wanted to abandon his motion to withdraw his plea, knowing that he might not get released that day. (R. 47:9–10.)

Following that colloquy, the Court instructed the parties to make their recommendations. After Lamb finished his allocution, the Court engaged in a long conversation with Lamb searching for mitigating factors. (R. 47:19–33.) After the conversation with Lamb, the Court went through the statutory sentencing factors, including discussing arguments made by counsel and statements made by Lamb during the hearing, and sentenced Lamb to four years in the Wisconsin Prison System, a full six years less than the maximum sentence. (R. 47:34–36.)

The exchange between the judge and Lamb does not show bias. Instead, it shows the judge attempting to protect

Lamb by ensuring he was not pleading guilty based on inaccurate expectations.

Lamb argues that the portion of the hearing transcript related to the plea withdrawal shows that the judge had predetermined the outcome or prejudged the sentence. (Lamb's Br. 10.) But Lamb's characterization of the transcript is not reasonable when the context is considered. The circuit court had an obligation to make sure Lamb knew the likely effect of his decision to abandon his motion to withdraw his plea and to make sure Lamb's decision was based on the merits of the case, and not the unrealistic expectation that he would be released that day. *See generally, State v. Francis*, 2005 WI App 161, ¶ 31, 285 Wis. 2d 451, 701 N.W.2d 632. The judge had a duty to ensure Lamb was not convicted of a crime he wanted to contest. In order to ensure Lamb's decision was based on the merits of his plea withdrawal motion, and not based on a desire for time served, the court informed Lamb that it was not likely he would be released.

In an attempt at manufacturing evidence of bias, Lamb's brief critically misquotes the transcript. Lamb argues that the circuit court told Lamb, "you're not going to get out today." (Lamb's Br. 11.) But what the court actually said was, "

So now that you know that it probably isn't going to happen that **you're going to get out today**, do you still want to proceed with sentencing and not argue on your request to vacate the pleas or to withdraw the pleas and to waive your right to have a PSI?

(R. 47:10.) (Emphasis added). As the transcript shows, the judge merely asked whether Lamb still wanted to abandon his motion to withdraw his plea, knowing that he **probably** was not getting out that day. This question does not show the appearance of bias or prejudgment. It shows that the



judge was trying to avoid Lamb making a plea decision based on unrealistic expectations.

Finally, Lamb's brief relies heavily on the *Goodson* and *Gudgeon* cases, but they do not support Lamb's position. While *Goodson* and *Gudgeon* do discuss objective bias, they also both involved cases where the sentencing judge expressed a predetermined desire or decision. In *Gudgeon*, the judge expressly said, "I want his probation extended" prior to the resentencing hearing. *Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶¶2–3. And in *Goodson*, the sentencing court told the defendant that he would be sentenced to the maximum if he was ever revoked. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶2. And upon revocation, the judge did just that. *Id.*

Unlike *Goodson* and *Gudgeon*, the sentencing judge in this case did not express any predetermined desire or certain outcome. Instead, just the opposite happened. During a colloquy on a plea withdrawal motion, the trial judge told Lamb that he should not plead guilty thinking that his release was certain. The judge asked Lamb whether he still wanted to abandon his motion to withdraw his plea, knowing that it was unlikely he would get released that day. (R. 47:9–10.) In this case, the judge was not revealing a predetermined outcome or desire, he was making it clear to Lamb that no specific outcome was certain.

## **CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court affirm the circuit court and deny Lamb's motion for a new sentencing hearing.